**RECEIVED**

**Jul 12 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM  
THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

---

ALC Docket Number: 21-ALJ-30-0084-CC  
Appellate Case Number: 2023-000521

---

Glenn C. Odom .....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority,  
South Carolina Retirement Systems .....Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Reginald W. Belcher, Esquire  
Hannah D. Stetson, Esquire  
Turner Padget Graham & Laney P.A.  
Post Office Box 1473  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 254-2200

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT WAS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AND NOT AN EMPLOYEE, THEREBY STRIPPING HIM OF HIS STATE RETIREMENT BENEFITS FOR THE LAST 15 YEARS OF HIS EMPLOYMENT?**
  
- II. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT'S SALARY WAS NOT "EARNABLE COMPENSATION" UNDER THE APPLICABLE RETIREMENT STATUTE?**
  
- III. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO CONSIDER WHETHER RESPONDENT BREACHED STATUTORY FIDUCIARY DUTIES THAT IT OWED TO APPELLANT?**

## **INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 12, 2021, Respondent South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority (“PEBA” or “Respondent”) issued Agency Determination Number 21-004, wherein Respondent determined that certain payments made to Appellant Glenn C. Odom (“Appellant” or “Odom”) by the Alligator Rural Water and Sewer Company (“Alligator” or “Company”) were not earnable compensation that could be credited to Odom for the purposes of the South Carolina Retirement System.

On March 17, 2021, Odom timely filed a Request for Contested Case Hearing with the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (“ALC” or “Administrative Law Court”). On November 9 and 15, 2022, the ALC conducted a full bench trial on the merits regarding Odom’s claim for retirement benefits.

By Order dated March 2, 2023, the ALC denied Odom’s requested relief, concluding that: (1) Odom’s earnings with Alligator from 2006 through 2020 were not earnable compensation for purposes of the South Carolina Retirement System because Alligator retained Odom as an independent contractor instead of an employee; and (2) Odom’s pay increases, starting in 2016, were not earnable compensation but instead were bonuses, incentives, or special payments.

On March 30, 2023, Odom timely filed a Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Odom thereafter timely requested a copy of the trial Transcript on April 5, 2023, and received the Transcript and exhibits thereto on June 13, 2023.

No evidence supported the ALC’s Order, which erroneously deprived Odom of earned retirement benefits exceeding \$100,000 per year. The undisputed evidence showed that Alligator employed Odom exclusively as an employee, which PEBA continuously acknowledged since

2006. Moreover, Alligator paid Odom a salary at all relevant times and never paid him a bonus, an incentive, or special compensation of any kind.

Accordingly, Odom's retirement contributions were "earnable compensation," per the applicable retirement statutes, thereby entitling Odom to the full relief he requested as a matter of law.

Therefore, the Court should reverse the ALC's decision and order PEBA to base Odom's retirement benefits on his highest twelve (12) consecutive quarters of earnable compensation, which began in July 2017, and retroactively credit Odom's retirement contributions and benefits to the fullest extent allowable under South Carolina Code Section 9-21-50.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### I. Overview of Alligator's Business Operations

Alligator was incorporated as a non-profit in Chesterfield County, South Carolina, in or about 1987. (Tr. 105, l. 14-15).<sup>1</sup> Alligator "started out originally as a small, rural water company that provided water to 100 rural customers" and has enjoyed explosive growth, particularly since 2014. (Tr. 46, l. 9-24).

Since its inception, Alligator has "added another 1,900 customers [and] several large industries . . . has signed contracts with every town in Chesterfield County except Cheraw . . . [and now is] a large water wholesaler." (Tr. 46, l. 9-24). In Alligator's first year of operations, it pumped 700,000 gallons of water, while last year it pumped more than a billion gallons of water along with 50 million gallons of sewer. (Tr. 46, l. 9-25, Tr. 47, l. 1-5). Over the years, Alligator "has grown a whole lot more than 2,000 percent." (Tr. 47, l. 4-5).

---

<sup>1</sup> References to pages in the trial transcript are herein designated as "Tr." while a specific line or lines in the trial transcript are herein designated as "l."

Alligator does not operate like a typical state government agency. (Tr. 283, l. 12-15). Unlike a state agency, the Company does not rely upon taxes as a revenue source but instead must generate revenues “like any business” to survive and continue to operate. (Tr. 48, l. 8-14, 25; Tr. 49, l. 1-2).

## **II. Odom Was A Member Of PEBA’s Retirement System**

Alligator hired Odom in 2006 and promoted him to the position of General Manager in or about 2014—a role in which he essentially served as the Company's Executive Director or Chief Executive Officer, reporting directly to the Company’s Board of Directors (“Board”). (Tr. 45, l. 15-18; Tr. 49, l. 11-14; Tr. 50, l. 12-15, Tr. 53, l. 14-24).

Alligator is a statutorily defined “employer” for purposes of PEBA’s retirement system, pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 9-1-10(14), which PEBA admitted. (Tr. 49, l. 3-6; Tr. 240, l. 1-5).

Since on or about September 1, 2006, Odom was a statutorily defined Class Two “active member” and “employee” of Alligator for purposes of PEBA’s retirement system, pursuant to South Carolina Code Sections 9-1-10(2) and (11), which PEBA admitted both at trial and in its treatment of Odom since 2006. (Tr. 49, l. 3-1, Tr. 240, l. 4-8).

## **III. Alligator Employed Odom Solely As An “Employee”**

Undisputed evidence showed that Alligator employed Odom and never retained him as an independent contractor. At all times, Alligator:

- paid Odom a salary via Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) Form W-2 and never paid him via a Form 1099;
- maintained workers’ compensation insurance covering Odom’s employment;
- paid payroll taxes, including FICA and FUTA, on Odom’s behalf to the state and federal governments;

- provided employment-related benefits to Odom, including paid time off (vacation and sick pay) and health, life, disability, and dental insurance;
- employed Odom on an at-will basis, meaning that Alligator could fire him at any time and for any or no reason;
- maintained a personnel file related to Odom's employment;
- provided office space and equipment, supplies, vehicles, tools, expense reimbursement, and materials necessary for Odom to perform his essential job duties;
- required Odom to report directly to the Board;
- required Odom to meet the Company's performance expectations;
- evaluated his job performance annually;
- required Odom to work, at a minimum, for a set number of hours during each workday;
- reimbursed Odom for work-related expenses;
- provided equipment, tools, supplies, and vehicles, per the Employee Handbook;
- paid Odom a set salary that did not vary based on the completion of certain tasks, jobs, or assignments;
- required Odom to follow the Company's policies, practices, and procedures and provided him with an employee handbook setting forth those policies, which he was required to follow; and
- maintained the right to discipline and/or discharge Odom if, for example, he failed to meet the Company's performance expectations, failed to follow the Company's policies and/or procedures, or for other reasons within the Company's sole discretion.

(Tr. 53, 57, 59-61, 71-72, l. 1-25) (PEBA Ex. 1 (Odom's First and Second Affidavits), 20, 21).

Moreover, in his role as Alligator's Manager, Odom was subject to and responsible for enforcing the Company's policies set forth in its Employee Handbook. (Tr. 56, l. 20-25; Tr. 57, l. 1-21) (PEBA Ex. 1). The Employee Handbook contained policies covering, among other topics, hiring, job performance, promotions, job responsibilities, conflicts of interest, work hours and attendance, equipment, compensation (which was based solely on performance), pay increases, holidays, vacation leave, sick leave, extended leave, military leave, emergency leave, job abandonment, benefits, expense reimbursement, health and safety, sexual harassment, work-related injuries, discipline, and discharge from employment. (Tr. 56, l. 20-25; Tr. 57, l. 1-21) (PEBA Ex. 1).

At trial, PEBA admitted that Alligator's Board maintained control over Odom and that tax records showed that Alligator paid him as an employee.<sup>2</sup> (Tr. 264, l. 3-8, Tr. 341, l. 1-25, Tr. 342, l. 1-7, l. 1) (PEBA Ex. 20). PEBA specifically testified that it "would not say we had anything that refuted" Odom's above-cited affidavits (which were admitted into evidence at trial and which were entirely consistent with his trial testimony). (Tr. 264, l. 13-25, Tr. 265 l. 1-2).

In addition, from 2006 to 2020, PEBA continuously treated Odom as Alligator's "employee," by allowing him to participate in the PEBA retirement system, accepting contributions from him, and periodically updating him on his contributions and expected retirement benefits. (PEBA Ex. 1, 2, 4, 83).

PEBA produced no testimony or other evidence refuting, countering, or rebutting these undisputed facts. Instead, PEBA merely questioned the supposedly small number of documents in Odom's personnel file, even though no law requires employers to maintain any particular documents in personnel files or to maintain personnel files at all. (Tr. 247, l. 2-15, Tr. 248, l. 2-

---

<sup>2</sup> PEBA's Director of Retirement Operations, Terry Nichols, testified as PEBA's only witness at trial.

20, Tr. 260, l. 7-19). The mere existence of a personnel file indicates that the individual is an “employee,” as employers certainly do not maintain personnel files for independent contractors, and PEBA proffered no evidence or legal citations to the contrary.

Odom’s personnel file at Alligator contained documents reflecting his participation in the PEBA retirement plan and various other documents showing that Alligator provided him with health, dental, vision, disability, and life insurance—indicating that he was Alligator’s “employee.” (PEBA Ex. 82).

At trial, PEBA failed to explain or reconcile its inconsistency in treating Odom as Alligator’s “employee” for nearly 15 years and then contending otherwise at trial, as PEBA testified:

Q. . . . [If Odom] were an employee from 2006 to 2009 for purposes of this [Average Final Compensation] calculation, when did he become an independent contractor and not an employee?

A. I don’t have an answer to that question. . . .  
...

Q. . . . [A]t what time or date did Mr. Odom become an independent contractor?

A. I don’t have an answer to that.

Q. And did he become an independent contractor at some point with Odom & Associates or with Alligator or with both?

A. You’re asking me a question I don’t have an answer for.

(Tr. 256, l. 3-7; Tr. 263, l. 5-13).

#### **IV. Alligator’s Relationship With Odom & Associates**

Alligator's business relationship with Odom & Associates ("O&A") was unrelated to Odom's participation in PEBA's retirement system and irrelevant to this case, despite PEBA's failed attempts to use this business relationship as a basis to deny or significantly reduce Odom's retirement benefits.

Odom owns O&A, which is private-sector, for-profit business, founded in 1998, that is separate and distinct from Alligator. (PEBA Ex. 1, Second Odom Aff., ¶ 8) (Tr. 62-64, l. 1-25; Tr. 106, l. 8-21). O&A has substantial income-generating real estate holdings that also are unrelated and unaffiliated with Alligator. (PEBA Ex. 1, Second Odom Aff., ¶ 9). For example, O&A owns roughly 40 rental units and approximately 1,200 acres of land. (PEBA Ex. 1, Second Odom Aff., ¶ 9). O&A also leases warehouse space for large paper mills, which is another business practice that is unrelated and unaffiliated with Alligator. (PEBA Ex. 1, Second Odom Aff., ¶ 10).

Alligator directly paid O&A for any services that it performed and did not include those payments as part of Odom's salary with Alligator. (PEBA Ex. 1, Second Odom Aff., ¶ 11, Currin Aff.) (Tr. 65, l. 2-5).

Odom's role with O&A did not affect his salary with Alligator, as his roles and earnings with the two organizations were separate and distinct. (PEBA Ex. 1, Second Odom Aff., ¶ 16, Currin Aff.) (Tr. 64, l. 2-16). Odom's compensation with Alligator was not based on and was wholly unrelated to any work or services that O&A provided. (PEBA Ex. 1, Second Odom Aff., ¶ 35) (Tr. 64, l. 2-16). Alligator never paid Odom for work that he performed for O&A. (Tr. 65, l. 2-5).

At trial, PEBA admitted that Odom's relationship with Alligator and O&A never changed over the years and likewise that O&A's business relationship with Alligator never changed over

the years. (Tr. 248-249, 258-259, l. 1-25).

PEBA did not proffer any information, documents, or other evidence refuting or rebutting the aforementioned undisputed evidence showing that Alligator and O&A were separate and distinct business entities and that their relationship was wholly unrelated to Odom's participation in PEBA's retirement system.

**V. Odom's Salary At Alligator**

Odom's regular annual salary with Alligator was:

<b><u>YEAR</u></b>	<b><u>AMOUNT</u></b>
2006	\$40,000.00
2007	\$112,000.00
2008	\$36,000.00
2009	\$32,500.00
2010	\$31,000.00
2011	\$16,000.00
2012	\$12,000.00
2013	\$12,000.00
2014	\$12,000.00
2015	\$12,000.00
2016	\$112,000.00
2017	\$428,727.25
2018	\$282,272.70
2019	\$247,500.00

2020 \$157,500.00<sup>3</sup>

(Tr. 71, l. 16-25, Tr. 72, l. 1-10, Tr. 159-160, l. 1-25) (Odom Ex. 4) (PEBA Ex. 20).

Odom's twelve highest consecutive quarters of salary or earnable compensation at Alligator were from July 2017 through his retirement in June 2020:

<u>QUARTER</u>	<u>AMOUNT</u>
1) Q3 2017	\$49,090
2) Q4 2017	\$73,636
3) Q1 2018	\$73,636
4) Q2 2018	\$73,636
5) Q3 2018	\$67,500
6) Q4 2018	\$67,500
7) Q1 2019	\$67,500
8) Q2 2019	\$67,500
9) Q3 2019	\$67,500
10) Q4 2019	\$45,000
11) Q1 2020	\$90,000 <sup>4</sup>
12) Q2 2020	\$67,500

(Odom Tr. 85-92, l. 1-25) (PEBA Ex. 1, 3, and 6).

Alligator timely reported all of the foregoing quarterly earnings to PEBA. (Tr. 92, l. 12-15; Tr. 240, l. 4-25, Tr. 241, l. 1-10). During those twelve quarters, Alligator paid Odom

---

<sup>3</sup> Odom retired in June 2021. (Tr. 45, l. 19-22) (Odom Ex. 6).

<sup>4</sup> Odom believes that Alligator mistakenly reported one of his pay periods (\$22,500) from the fourth quarter of 2019 as earnings for the first quarter of 2020. (Tr. 88, l. 3-16; Tr. 91, l. 1-16). Thus, Odom's correct earnings were \$67,500 during both the last quarter of 2019 and the first quarter of 2020.

\$22,500 for 24 consecutive pay periods, covering two full calendar years. (Tr. 91-92, l. 1-25). PEBA never challenged, rebutted, or refuted the foregoing reported amounts of Odom's earnings at Alligator.

**VI. Alligator Always Paid Odom A Salary And Never Paid Him A Bonus, Incentive, Or Special Payment**

Odom earned all of the foregoing amounts exclusively from his salary at Alligator, which the Board set. (Tr. 59, l. 1-17). The Company never paid Odom any bonuses, incentives, or special payments of any kind, and he never had any contract, written or verbal, with Alligator giving him the right to earn bonuses, incentives, or special payments. (Tr. 59-60, l. 1-25, Tr. 61-62, l. 1-25). At trial, PEBA admitted that Alligator and Odom never had any written or verbal contract for bonuses, incentives, or special payments of any kind. (Tr. 282, l. 4-22).

Odom testified that:

I've done 18 separate water phases through federal or state government. And none of that impacted my pay. It just made us larger and made us bring in more money. But no bonus or if you bring in X number of dollars you're gon' get this; no, sir. . . . The Board looked at the end of the year, reviewed where we were financially with the auditor's report and saw that, you know, everything was going fine, making money or whatever. And they gave me a raise or left things as it was.

(Tr. 59, l. 10-15, 23-25; Tr. 60, l. 1-3 ).

The accounting firm of Phillips, Currin & Company, CPA's ("PCC") of Hartsville, South Carolina provided accounting services for Alligator for more than 25 years.<sup>5</sup> (Tr. 170 l. 25; Tr. 171, l. 11-23).

---

<sup>5</sup> This accounting firm previously audited Alligator and still provides bookkeeping for the Company, including compiling state and federal tax returns, compiling and/or analyzing financial statements, and providing payroll services. (Tr. 172, l. 13-25; Tr. 173, l. 22-24).

One of PCC's partners, Certified Public Accountant Karen Currin ("CPA Currin"), testified and confirmed that Alligator always paid Odom exclusively a salary and never paid him a bonus, incentive, or special payment of any kind:

Q. When Alligator provides you with payroll information, does it break it down in terms of whether the payments are for a salary or a bonus or some type of incentive payment? Does it break it down in any way?

A. Yeah. I believe when the office manager would communicate that to my payroll staff. So it should be on those reports if there's bonuses or anything. There should be a separate line item for bonuses.

Q. Has Alligator ever reported to your accounting firm a bonus for Mr. Odom?

A. No. Not [that] I'm aware of; no.

Q. Has it ever reported any incentive payments to Mr. Odom?

A. No.

Q: . . . [H]as Alligator always reported only Mr. Odom's salary to your accounting firm?

A. Yes. Just however those weekly -- well, I'm not even sure it's weekly. I think it's biweekly for payroll. They communicate that with my payroll staff.

(Tr. 174, l. 8-25; Tr. 175, l. 1-5).

Similarly, Alligator's Board Chair, via a letter to PEBA, further corroborated that the Company paid Odom exclusively via a salary. (Odom Ex. 7) (Tr. 75-76, l. 1-25).

PEBA produced no testimony, documents, or other evidence refuting or rebutting the foregoing undisputed evidence showing that Alligator paid Odom exclusively with a salary and that the Company never paid him a bonus, a special payment, or an incentive.

## **VII. PEBA's Erroneous Final Agency Decision**

PEBA began investigating Odom's retirement contributions at least as early as 2017, as it questioned: (1) whether Odom's pay at Alligator was salary-based, (2) why the Company increased Odom's salary beginning in 2016, and (3) Alligator's business relationship with O&A—an entity which Odom owned and which contractually provided services to Alligator. (Tr. 243, l. 4-25).

For approximately four years, Odom, Alligator, and O&A each timely and fully responded to PEBA's numerous requests for information and documents regarding these issues, including two sworn affidavits that Odom provided. (Tr. 78-80, l. 1-25) (PEBA Ex. 1). At trial, PEBA admitted that it had no evidence contradicting Odom's undisputed affidavits, as PEBA testified that, "I would not say we had anything that refuted it . . ." (Tr. 264, l. 23-25; Tr. 265, l. 1; Tr. 346, l. 1-25; Tr. 347, l. 1-2) (PEBA Ex. 1).

In addition, CPA Currin sent multiple correspondence and documents to PEBA, along with a sworn affidavit affirming that Alligator paid Odom exclusively with a salary and further explaining the legitimate business reasons that motivated the Company to increase Odom's salary beginning in 2016.<sup>6</sup> (Odom Tr. 78, l. 21-25, Tr. 79, l. 1-25; Tr. 80, l. 1-6; Tr. 245, l. 2-23) (Odom Ex. 1, Currin Aff.). Alligator's Board Chair sent a letter to PEBA, explaining these same issues. (Odom Ex. 7).

Despite the mountain of information and documents that Odom and others provided, PEBA rejected Odom's claim for full retirement benefits and instead calculated his projected

---

<sup>6</sup> Odom and/or Alligator provided to PEBA tax returns, contracts, bank ledgers, bank statements, policies, a personnel file, Board minutes, and financial information, among other documents—all of which the ALC admitted into evidence. (Tr. 245-247, l. 1-25).

retirement benefits based on contributed earnings for quarters in which he earned only \$12,000.00 per year.<sup>7</sup> (PEBA Ex. 4).

PEBA gave no weight to the Odom and Currin sworn Affidavits, as PEBA viewed them merely as “his perception,” “her statement,” and “his word.” (Tr. 264, l. 16-20; Tr. 273, l. 8-23; Tr. 274, l. 1-3; Tr. 346, l. 3-18).

PEBA concluded that it “properly excluded . . . additional payments . . . for the purposes of Claimant’s participation” in the retirement system “because those payments do not meet the requirements for earnable compensation in the system.” (PEBA Ex. 4).

At trial, PEBA testified that Odom’s reported salary “was some other special incentive payment or bonus, but it was not part of the regular salary base.” (Tr. 252, l. 12-14). PEBA characterized Odom’s salary increases as an actuarial “spike” and characterized this as the “sole basis” for the Final Determination. (Tr. 253, l. 1-13).

At trial, PEBA could not and did not explain specifically why it classified Odom’s earnings, which included payments of \$22,500 for 24 consecutive pay periods, as a “special payment,” as PEBA merely testified that, “It’s not part of the—it did not appear to be a regular salary. . . . You’re badgering me.” (Tr. 279-280, l. 1-25).

PEBA attempted to justify this conjecture by citing a case, in the Final Determination, from Massachusetts, contending that the retirement system needed “safeguards” to protect from “untoward, massive, continuing burdens.” (PEBA Ex. 4). However, PEBA cited no South Carolina authority, whether statute, regulation, or judicial precedent, allowing it to arbitrarily reduce Odom’s statutorily-protected retirement benefits under these circumstances.

---

<sup>7</sup> PEBA’s Final Determination explicitly found no evidence showing or suggesting that Alligator’s payments to Odom were “illegitimate or improper.” (Tr. 265, l. 3-21) (PEBA Ex. 4).

In fact, at trial, PEBA admitted that: (1) the South Carolina Code of Laws does not address or reference “spikes;” (2) the applicable retirement statutes do not define the terms “salary,” “incentive,” or “special payment;” and (3) PEBA does not have any internal written guidelines defining those terms or any formula for determining what constitutes a “spike.” (Tr. 267-269, l. 1-25; Tr. 281, l. 2-25).

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