RECEIVED

Sep 11 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000521

Glenn C. Odom,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority,
South Carolina Retirement Systems,.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Justin R. Werner
S.C. Bar # 69464
General Counsel
South Carolina Public Employee Benefit
Authority
202 Arbor Lake Drive
Columbia, South Carolina 29223
(803) 737-6894

Attorney for Respondent

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

⁹ In his brief, Odom also contends that "PEBA waived its contention that Alligator retained Odom as an independent contractor." (Initial Brief of Appellant at 39.) However, this argument is only made in a conclusory manner in two sentences with no citations of authority, such that the

C. The ALJ’s determination that, even if Odom were an employee of Alligator, the increased payments made to him beginning in 2016 were not earnable compensation for the purposes of SCRS is supported by substantial evidence on the whole record and unaffected by errors of law.

In her Final Order in this case, the ALJ found that, “although it is clear that the relationship between Alligator and Petitioner [i.e., Odom] is an independent contractor relationship based upon the Management Agreement, even if some of the reported compensation had been paid to Petitioner as an employee of Alligator, the additional payments received by Petitioner from Alligator beginning in 2016 do not constitute earnable compensation for the purposes of SCRS.” (Final Order at 21.) Because this determination is supported by substantial evidence on the whole record and applies the correct legal standard, it should be affirmed by this Court as an additional sustaining ground for the ALJ’s decision, even if it finds that the ALJ’s determination regarding Odom’s employment status was in error.

1. The increased payments Alligator reported as being made to Odom beginning in 2016 do not meet the statutory definition of “earnable compensation” for the purposes of SCRS.

As discussed above, a member’s “earnable compensation” for the purposes of calculating contributions to, and benefits from, SCRS is defined by statute as “the full rate of the compensation that would be payable to a member if the member worked the member’s full normal working time.” S.C. Code Ann. § 9-1-10(8)(a) (2019) (emphasis added). In addition, Section 9-1-1020 of the Code of Laws further clarifies the compensation that is includable in a

argument should be considered abandoned on appeal. See, e.g., S.C. Dep’t of Probation, Parole & Pardon Servs. v. Reynolds, 343 S.C. 465, 468 n.1, 540 S.E.2d 480, 482 n.1 (Ct. App. 2000) (declining to consider an argument “because there is no citation of authority, and it is so conclusory as to be an abandonment of this issue on appeal”). Moreover, the issue was not preserved for appellate review; although Odom raised the issue—again, in a conclusory manner—in his post-trial brief, the ALJ did not explicitly rule on Odom’s waiver argument in the Final Order, and Odom did not file a motion to alter or amend the ALJ’s decision to seek such a ruling. See S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Group, 347 S.C. 333, 343, 554 S.E.2d 870, 875 (Ct. App. 2001).

member's earnable compensation and upon which contributions are due. That section provides, in relevant part, that "[p]ayments for unused sick leave, single special payments at retirement, bonus and incentive-type payments, or any other payments not considered a part of the regular salary base are not compensation for which contributions are deductible." *Id.* § 9-1-1020 (emphasis added). The SCRS statutes also provide that, "[f]or work performed by a member after December 31, 2012, earnable compensation does not include any overtime pay not mandated by the employer." *Id.* § 9-1-10(8)(b). As reflected in these statutes, a member's earnable compensation is not intended to be distorted by abnormal, short-term inflations of a member's reported compensation through bonuses, unauthorized overtime, or "other payments not considered part of the regular salary base," but is instead designed to reflect the normal rate of regular compensation actually earned by the member.

As an initial matter, the \$103,000 reported by Alligator as Odom's compensation for the April to June quarter of 2016 clearly includes a bonus or other special payment that was not part of Odom's regular salary base. For the prior 19 quarters leading up to that payment, Alligator had reported Odom's earnable compensation as exactly \$3,000 per quarter. The payment of an additional \$100,000 in that single quarter would not be reflective of Odom's regular, recurring salary base and, thus, would not be considered earnable compensation for the purposes of SCRS. Similarly, the \$303,000 reported by Alligator as Odom's compensation for the April to June quarter of 2017 reflects a bonus or special payment that would not be earnable compensation for the purposes of the system. At the time of that reported payment, Alligator had reported Odom's earnable compensation as exactly \$3,000 per quarter for 22 of the prior 23 quarters, with the one exception being the April to June quarter of 2016 when the additional \$100,000 discussed above was reported. In short, whether characterized as bonuses, incentive pay, or some other form of

special payment, these payments of \$100,000 and \$300,000 made in the quarters ending in June 2016 and June 2017, respectively, are not consistent with the regular base salary of \$3,000 per quarter that Alligator had been reporting for Odom on a recurring and consistent basis since 2010, and, thus, would not be considered earnable compensation for the purposes of SCRS. See S.C. Code Ann. §§ 9-1-10(8)(a), 9-1-1020.

Further, the increased compensation Alligator began reporting for Odom in July 2017—in the amount of \$270,000 per year—also falls outside of the regular salary base Alligator previously established for Odom and would not be considered earnable compensation under SCRS.¹⁰ To the extent that this increased reported compensation does not reflect bonuses or special payments, this compensation would still include payments that, prior to these final years of his employment before retirement, had not previously been considered part of his regular salary base and had not previously been treated as wages for employment by Alligator. Whether these payments had previously been classified as payments to pay off debt Alligator owed to Odom, as payments to O&A pursuant to the Management Agreement with Alligator, or as some other form of compensation, the payments had not been considered part of Odom’s normal, regular salary from Alligator and had been paid to Odom outside of Alligator’s employment payroll prior to 2017. To permit any such non-payroll payments to be reclassified as wages for employment and included in Odom’s earnable compensation for only the minimum three-year period necessary to calculate an inflated average final compensation would allow Odom’s average final compensation—and resulting retirement benefit—to be distorted by a short-time,

¹⁰ Notably, in his discussions with PEBA regarding the increased payments beginning in July 2017, Odom characterized the large payment due to him in July as a “bonus.” (Resp’t Ex. #8 at 1.) Further, the record reflects that Odom’s reported compensation of \$270,000 only began once he was informed that bonuses and other special payments could not be included in his earnable compensation and that the maximum allowable compensation allowed by the IRS for the calculation of retirement benefits in 2017 was \$270,000. (Resp’t Ex. #8 at 1-2.)

artificial inflation of his reported compensation that does not accurately reflect the regular salary base upon which Odom and Alligator had remitted contributions for the majority of his employment.¹¹

In short, because Odom could not demonstrate that the increased payments made to him beginning in 2016 reflected his normal rate of regular compensation as reported by Alligator for his services, those payments cannot be considered earnable compensation for the purposes of SCRS. Rather, the preponderance of the evidence in this matter shows that those increased payments were made in the form of bonuses or other special payments that were not considered part of his reported regular salary base. Consequently, the ALJ's findings to that effect are clearly supported by substantial evidence on the whole record, are not affected by any errors of law, and should be affirmed.

2. Odom's argument that the ALJ erred in reaching those findings is unsuccessful.

On appeal, Odom contends that the ALJ's findings regarding the reported increases in his compensation misconstrue the applicable statutes and are based on "no evidence." (Initial Brief of Appellant at 41, 42.) However, Odom's contentions fail on both counts.

In his brief, Odom alleges that the ALJ's findings are in error because the ALJ "impermissibly rewrote" the statutes defining earnable compensation for the purposes of SCRS by "applying the notion or theory of 'actuarial spiking.'" (Initial Brief of Appellant at 44.) However, the ALJ's Final Order in this case does not reflect any such rewriting of the applicable statutes. To the contrary, the ALJ's analysis plainly cites to, and follows the letter of, the

¹¹ For example, if Odom's monthly SCRS and PORS benefits were based upon an average final compensation of \$270,000, his total monthly benefit amount across both plans would be nearly \$13,000 a month, such that he would receive a *monthly* benefit greater than the \$12,000 *annual* salary that was reported (and contributed upon) for the majority of his participation with Alligator. (Tr. p. 339 ln. 14-p. 340 ln. 14.)

relevant law as the basis for the findings regarding Odom's earnable compensation. (Final Order at 15-17, 21-22.) Specifically, the ALJ expressly, and correctly, reviewed whether the reported increases in Odom's compensation reflected "bonus and incentive-type payments, or any other payments not considered part of the regular salary base" to determine whether the reported increases would be earnable compensation. See S.C. Code Ann. § 9-1-1020; Final Order at 15-17, 21-22. And, while the ALJ does acknowledge the actuarial basis for those statutory provisions and the actuarial implications of Odom's claim in the Final Order (Final Order at 16-17, 22), that recognition did not change the ALJ's application of the plain language of the relevant statutes or otherwise cause the ALJ to apply a different standard or test for the determination of earnable compensation for the purposes of SCRS other than what is found in the SCRS statutes (Final Order at 15-17, 21-22). Further, the acknowledgment of those background actuarial implications is entirely in keeping with the South Carolina Supreme Court's jurisprudence on these questions. See Duvall v. S.C. Budget & Control Bd., 377 S.C. 36, 659 S.E.2d 125 (2008); Wehle v. S.C. Ret. Sys., 363 S.C. 394, 611 S.E.2d 240 (2005); Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys., 345 S.C. 339, 549 S.E.2d 243 (2001) (all rejecting attempts to inflate members' average final compensation with additional leave payouts that would lead to absurd results by causing the payment of actuarially unsound benefits); see in particular, e.g., Duvall, 377 S.C. at 41, 659 S.E.2d at 127 (quoting Wehle and emphasizing that, in construing SCRS statutes, it must be recognized that SCRS is "administered under an elaborate statutory and constitutional scheme designed to protect the independence, integrity and actuarial soundness of the funds"). Because the parties agree on the applicable statutes implicated on this issue, and because the ALJ correctly applied those statutes in the Final Order, Odom's contention that the

ALJ's findings with regard to his earnable compensation are affected by an error of law must fail.

Similarly, Odom's assertions that the ALJ's findings regarding his earnable compensation are unsupported by the evidence are also unavailing. For example, in his brief, Odom contends that "PEBA produced no testimony, documents, or other evidence refuting or rebutting the foregoing undisputed evidence showing that Alligator paid Odom exclusively with a salary and that the Company never paid him a bonus, a special payment, or an incentive." (Initial Brief of Appellant at 12.) However, as cited above, in an email to PEBA on July 26, 2017, Odom himself expressly identified an increased payment that he was due to receive that month from Alligator as a "bonus." (Resp't Ex. #8, at 1 ("Glad we talked as the bonus is due in July[.]").) And, the single payments of \$100,000 and \$300,000 payments reported as being made to Odom in June 2016 and June 2017, respectively, amidst a decade of reported compensation of \$1,000 a month nearly speak for themselves as being bonuses or other forms of special payments that are not part of his regular salary base. (Resp't Ex. #4, at 26, 28; Resp't Ex. #2, at 129.) Similarly, elsewhere in his brief, Odom claims that "PEBA did not proffer any information, documents, or other evidence refuting or rebutting the aforementioned undisputed evidence explaining Alligator's legitimate business-related reasons for increasing Odom's salary." (Initial Brief of Appellant at 22.) However, in their testimony at the hearing of this case, both Odom and his accountant confirmed that there was no documentation reflecting how the Alligator Board of Directors arrived at the amount of Odom's reported salary increases and, because the board made any such determinations in executive session, neither Odom nor his accountant could provide an explanation of how those reported salary amounts were determined.

(Tr. p. 60 ln. 7-ln. 12; Tr. p. 134 ln. 1-ln. 20; Tr. p. 215 ln. 20-p. 216 ln. 14; Tr. p. 217 ln. 9-ln. 22.)

In short, the ALJ's finding that the compensation increases reported as being paid to Odom from Alligator beginning in 2016 would not be earnable compensation, even if paid to him as an employee, is based upon the correct application of the plain language of the relevant statutes and is well-supported by substantial evidence in the whole record. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the decision of the ALJ on that issue as an additional sustaining ground for the Final Order.

D. Odom's contention that the ALJ's decision is in error because it did not find that PEBA breached its fiduciary duties is not preserved for review and, in any event, is without merit.

In his brief, Odom contends the ALJ erred in failing to find that PEBA breached its fiduciary duties to Odom as a result of what he alleges was "PEBA's illicit compilation and consideration of inflammatory, irrelevant, and highly prejudicial documents" in this matter. (Initial Brief of Appellant at 45.) This argument is not preserved for appellate review and, even if it were, the argument is without merit.

As with his wavier argument, while Odom raised his breach of fiduciary duty claim in his post-trial brief, albeit with little citation of authority, the ALJ did not explicitly rule on Odom's breach of fiduciary duty argument in the Final Order, and Odom did not file a motion to alter or amend the ALJ's decision to seek such a ruling. Accordingly, because the issue was not ruled on by the ALJ, it is not preserved for appellate review by this Court. See S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Group, 347 S.C. 333, 343, 554 S.E.2d 870, 875 (Ct. App. 2001). But, even if the issue had been properly preserved for review, it is wholly without merit. There is no question that PEBA owes fiduciary duties to the members of the

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